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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

            P.O. Box 25512                                                              Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512                                  

	ARTHUR J. BLANCHARD, 

                            Employee, 

                                                                                  Applicant

                           v. 

VECO ALASKA, INC.

                           Employer,

                         and 

ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE CO.

                              Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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	        FINAL

        DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case Nos.  200222157 
        AWCB Decision No  07-0166
         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         June 19, 2007




We heard the employee’s claims for additional temporary total disability (TTD) benefits and medical benefits at Anchorage, Alaska on April 18, 2007.  The employee appeared by telephone, representing himself.  Attorney Richard Wagg represented the employer.  We left the record open until May 18, 2007 to receive from the employee any additional medical records, and any records relating to the employee’s work performed since the report of injury, that he felt would be supportive of his claims.  The employee submitted additional evidence and argument in the form of a narrative letter, received on May 17, 2007.  We closed the record on May 18, 2007, when we next met.


ISSUES
1. Is the employee entitled to additional benefits after March 20, 2003?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. PRE-INJURY MEDICAL TREATMENT:

In a medical chart note for the Family Medical Center, Paincourtville, LA, the employee reported on July 7, 1992 as sustaining a “catching pain in the back which dropped him to the floor.”  He was diagnosed at that time with “LS [lumbosacral] strain with possible facet syndrome,” and provided Lodine.
  On July 22, 1992, it was reported that the employee “did something which re-exacerbated his pain, especially on the right.  He does have right radiation in the leg.”  Toradol was prescribed, as well as a lumbosacral spine series of x-rays.
  The employee reported again to the provider with “severe lumbosacral strain, unrelieved by Tylenol #3,” and so he was prescribed Tylox.

The employee was involved in a single car accident as an unrestrained driver on November 17, 1993; he was treated for facial lacerations, chest x-ray revealed right rib fracture but otherwise no other fractures noted.

During 1999, the employee was prescribed carisoprodol,
 Relafen,
 and hydrocodone with APAP,
 by two doctors, Drs. Samuel and Reddy, disbursed at Richard’s Pharmacy in Pierre Part, LA.

During 2000, the employee was prescribed hydrocodone with APAP along with several other medications for treatment of depression and anxiety.
  

On September 1, 2000, the employee was treated at the Our Lady of the Lake Regional Medical Center for a slip in the shower, complaining of low back pain.  X-rays of the lumbar region were normal, and the employee was released with a prescription for Motrin.

During 2001, the employee was prescribed hydrocodone with APAP, and other antibiotics.

During 2002, the employee was prescribed hydrocodone with APAP (at least 71 tablets) between January 1 and October 7, 2002.   During this same time period, the employee was also prescribed 20 tablets of acetaminophen with codeine #3, cyclobenzeprine (30 tablets),
 and Meprozine (16 tablets).

On April 6, 2002, the employee was treated at Assumption Community Hospital for a dog bite, the history noting “also c/o [complains of] back pain” and “out of meds.”  The dog bite wounds were dressed and the employee was prescribed Flexeril and Naproxen.

On April 14, 2002, the employee was treated at Teche Regional Medical Center for a complaint of exacerbation to an old right ankle injury, described by history as a poorly treated fracture.  X-ray of the ankle was negative.  The employee was discharged with instructions to elevate and ice the ankle, and follow up with his regular physician.  He was referred to a Dr. James C. Larrison of Pierre Part, LA.
  

On June 29, 2002, the employee was treated at the Teche Regional Medical Center for jaw pain and swelling in the jaw, asking for “something for pain,” diagnosed as salivary duct inflammation, with prescription of Naprosyn and Vicodin.  These records do not reflect any reported prior history of back pain; the history of right ankle fracture is noted.

On July 22, 2002, the employee was treated at Family Medical Center for “severe” lower back pain.  He was prescribed Bextra, Lortab and Skelaxin.
  On August 2, 2002, the employee again was treated at the Family Medical Center for “low back pain burning down to the legs x 1 week severe”.

On August 2, 2002, a prescription for 30 tablets of hydrocodone with APAP was filled at Bertrand’s Pharmacy in Gonzales, LA.
  On the same date, a prescription for 30 tablets of cyclobenzaprine was filled at the same pharmacy.
  Both prescriptions were written by a J. Tripuraneni, MD.

On October 2, 2002, the employee presented to the Family Medical Center “/c [with] ℅ [complaints of] abcess in mouth x 1 wk. [week].”  Also noted was the employee’s “hx [history]” of lumbar strain.
  The employee was prescribed Keflex, and Tylenol with codeine #3.
  On October 2, 2002, a prescription for 20 tablets of acetaminophen (generic for Tylenol) with codeine #3 was filled at Bertrand’s Pharmacy, prescribed by S. Malur MD.  A prescription for Cephalexin (generic for Keflex), an antibiotic also prescribed by Dr. Malur, was filled at the same pharmacy on that date.

The next day, October 3, 2002, the employee presented to the St. Elizabeth Hospital Emergency Department, complaining of throat pain and requesting pain medications.  The employee was given Demerol IM, Phenergan IM, and Rosephin IM, discharged with 15 Lortab tablets, with the diagnosis of sialoadentitis.  Previous history of lumbar back pain did not appear to be reported during this ER visit.  The employee’s treatment at the Family Medical Center the day before, and the prescription for medications, was not recorded as reported by the patient.
  On October 3, 2002, a prescription for 15 tablets of Hydrocodone with APAP (generic for Lortab) was filled at the Wal-mart Pharmacy for the employee.

On October 4, 2002, a prescription for 20 tablets of hydrocodone with APAP was filled at the Bertrand’s Pharmacy, on a prescription written by a Dr. Bradley Hidalgo.

The employee appeared to follow up on the referral from St. Elizabeth Hospital on October 7, 2002, presenting to a dental firm of Towns, Hornsby and Regan, reporting a history of ankle sprain and salivary gland stones, but no mention of prior back pain or arthritis.  On October 7, 2002, a prescription for 16 tablets of Meprozine, written by C. Grady Hornsby MD, was filled at Bertrand’s Pharmacy.

The chart notes for Towns, Hornsby and Regan indicates that a follow-up appointment was scheduled for October 10, 2002, but the employee cancelled it as “Pt. [patient] is going out of town and will R/S [reschedule] appt. with Dr. Peters when he gets back.”
  This is apparently the last medical treatment the employee received before arriving in Alaska to work for VECO on or about October 28, 2002, when the employee filled out a VECO Health Questionnaire.
  

In the VECO questionnaire, the employee described treatment by a Dr. Naro and an unidentified dentist for stones in salivary gland, but did not mention any history of arthritis (checked “no”), no history of back or neck injury (checked “no”), no history of joint injury/joint pain/joint stiffness (checked “no”), and did not mention the treatment at St. Elizabeth’s Hospital earlier that month.

II. DESCRIPTIONS OF INJURY:

The employee was employed as a pipe fitter on a project relating to the Kustatan oil production facility at Cook Inlet from October 28, 2002 until November 22, 2002.  In his deposition, the employee described arriving in Alaska on October 27 or 28, 2002, completing a drug test the next day, and on the third night was flown out to the Kustatan project.
    A Report of Injury (ROI), signed by the employee and the employer on November 22, 2002, did not identify a specific date of injury, described the injury as “lower back center.”  In describing how the injury occurred, the ROI stated:

“I thought I had pulled a muscle.  It did not happen at an instant.  It came on and got worse.”

On November 6, 2002, the employee was seen by a physician’s assistant at the Fairweather Medical Clinic at the project, complaining of low back pain.  “He has this every so often.  He bent over to put on his boots.  He noticed an immed. pn. [pain] in lower back.  Denies numbness, tingling, loss of bowel control, urination, etc.  Pn. [pain] 8/10.  Muscle spasm before.”  The PA administered 60 mg Toradol IM, and provided twenty (20) tablets of Flexeril, 20 mg.
  

The employee returned to the Fairweather clinic the next day, November 7, 2002, and the PA noted “pt comes in for f/u [follow-up].  States he is feeling much better pn. [pain] 2/10.  States he feels much looser than yesterday.”  The PA recommended stretching exercises, “take it easy, no lifting > 40 lbs.”

The employee returned to the Fairweather clinic, apparently later on November 7, 2002, and the PA noted “pt. comes in states he overdid it today.  Tried to go to bed can’t find a position of comfort, would like something, suggest a 2nd Toradol inj.  He states that would be great.”  The PA provided a second 60 mg injection of Toradol, IM and instructed the employee to “rest tomorrow.”

The employee returned to the Fairweather clinic on November 8, 2002, reporting that “he is doing better today.  Able to walk,  pn. [pain] 2/10.”  The assessment at that time by the PA was “low back pn. [pain] non-occupational muscle spasms.”  The PA recommended continued stretching, walking, and bed rest, and “no lifting at this time.”

The employee returned to the Fairweather clinic on November 13, 2002, the PA noting that “pt. still has not gotten better.  5-6/10.  Sneezes and pn. immed. [illegible] pn. ↑ to 8/10.  States he was woken by alarm clock startled.  Also beds not very good.”  The PA recommended at that time a follow up with the employee’s personal physician, which the “pt. refuses @ this time,” and the PA recommended continue back exercises, and provided Vicodin, prednisone, and additional Flexeril.

The employee was next seen at the MediCenter in Kenai, Alaska on November 21, 2002.  In a notation of that visit, the medical record states:

“pulled a muscle about a week and a half ago; unable to bend over; can’t lift anything; Ø [no] real improvement.  ↑ pain a.m. when get up.  ↑ pain /c [with] coughing/sneezing.  Pain radiates down ® [right] leg.  Bilateral LBP [lower back pain].  Ø [No] numbness.  Ø [No] incontinence.  Conservative tx. [treatment] helped on previos [sic] problem 2 ½ months ago.  Flexeril/Vicodin worked previously.”  

The examiner noted spasm in paraspinal muscles L2-S1, assessed the employee as having lower back pain and “possible HNP [herniated nucleus pulposus],” and prescribed Flexeril, Hydrocodone, and Celebrex.

On November 22, 2002, PA Alm prepared a witness statement summarizing his observations and recordation of the employee’s statements over the previous two weeks:

I saw Mr. Blanchard in the Kustatan Medical Office.  The 1st encounter [with] Mr. Blanchard was for a back problem.  He state that he was putting on his boots when he began to have [pain].  I asked if he wanted this reported as a work-related injury he state that it was not and was personal.  He did sign a release of info. on pt. encounter form (1st visit).  I have also suggested he go home and see his own physician he refused.  On 11/17/02 I brought up the subject of him going home again he again refused.  I was much more insistant [sic] about this.  That was his last visit.  I saw him on 6 different occasions for f/u [follow up].

The employee in 2004, in his deposition described the injury as occurring when he removed a “16-inch blind flange” consisting of steel 1.5” thick by 20” in diameter, from a surge tank that was being installed. He described that he felt “a little something, that wasn’t that serious” in his “lower back,” and when startled by an alarm clock the next morning while asleep, “I woke up and turned kind of fast, and that’s when the major part of the pain came on.” 

III.
POST-INJURY MEDICAL TREATMENT:

The next record of medical attention to the employee is an Injury Status Report from the Our Lady of the Lake Ascension Occupational Health Clinic, Gonzales, Louisiana, which indicates the employee was referred to specialist Dr. Petrie.
  Dr. Petrie examined the employee on November 27, 2002.  The history at that time makes no mention of either the boot-tying episode, or the moving of a flange cover, the doctor charting the employee’s report as “denies any trauma or enticing events, but remembers twisting his back while getting out of bed approximately three weeks ago and slipping on ice while on the job three weeks ago.”
  Dr. Petrie’s diagnosis at that time was  “lower back pain / OA [osteoarthritis] / spasm,” and the employee was prescribed Bextra, Flexeril, Tylenol, Lortab, ice and heat.

On December 5, 2002, Dr. Petrie noted that the employee returned for follow-up visit, and the employee reported, according to Dr. Petrie’s note, that “he has improved 80%.”  Dr. Petrie noted reflexes were 2+ and equal bilaterally, with “no track signs and negative straight leg raise.”  Dr. Petrie prescribed continued medication regimen, with heat and ice.

On December 13, 2002, Dr. Petrie noted the employee reported “he is 100% improved.”  Again, the same signs and symptoms were recorded as on December 5: reflexes 2+, equal bilaterally, no long track signs, and negative straight leg test.”  The diagnosis and treatment regimen remained the same as before.  The employee was to follow-up by returning to the clinic in a month.

Four days later, on December 17, 2002, Dr. Petrie again saw the employee, noting subjective statement that “pain is returning.”  Objective signs and symptoms remained the same.  Dr. Petrie continued the medication/ice/heat regimen, opining that “[h]e seems to be developing radiculopathy into the bilateral lower extremities,” and also recommended “activity modification.”

Dr. Petrie again saw the employee on December 23, 2002, recording employee’s statement that “he is approximately 50% improved,” with the same objective signs and symptoms, and the same treatment regimen prescribed.

Dr. Petrie again saw the employee on January 3, 2003, and recorded the employee’s condition as the same as the December 23, 2002 visit.  Dr. Petrie continued the medication/ice/heat regimen and also prescribed physical therapy at Advanced Rehabilitation of Gonzales, LA.
 

Physical therapy chart notes reflect that the employee was evaluated and treated on January 13, 15, 17, 21, 23, 24, 28, 29, February 3, 5, 7, 10, 12, 14, 2003.  The PT notes over this course of two months record generally improved condition .
  During this same period of time, during visits to Dr. Petrie, the employee is attributed as saying that he was 80% improved on January 27, 2003, and 100% improved on February 25, 2003.
  During visits to Dr. Petrie in March and April 2003, again the employee stated he was 100% improved.

On June 4, 2003, the employee reported that his pain had returned.  Objective symptoms remained unchanged from previous visits.  The same conservative regimen was prescribed of medication therapy/ice/heat/physical therapy.
  The physical therapy chart notes are difficult to read in portions, but by June 27, 2003 the PT had charted that employee reported “back doing better, stiff @ [at] times, but overall much better” and that “pt. [patient] had no ℅ [complaints] /c [with] progression.”
  This pattern of reported improvement then decline is repeated throughout the chart notes from Dr. Petrie and the physical therapist for late June and July of 2003.
  On July 22, 2003, Dr. Petrie prescribed continued three additional weeks of physical therapy,
 but on the next day July 23, 2003 the employee reported to the Emergency Department of the St. Elizabeth Hospital, where he was diagnosed with sciatica and low back pain, given an injection of morphine sulfate and Phenergan, and referred back to his treating physician Dr. Petrie.

The employee returned to Dr. Petrie on July 24, 2003, and Dr. Petrie prescribed the same conservative regimen of medication/heat/ice/physical therapy and a home exercise program.
  The physical therapy notes chart a gradual improvement in August 2003.
  Dr. Petrie prescribed continued physical therapy on August 26, 2003.
  There is no evidence that the employee continued with the physical therapy as prescribed by Dr. Petrie.

The medical record reflects that the employee then returned to Our Lady of the Lake Ascension, Occupational Health Clinic, on November 6, 2003, and obtained a referral to another specialist Dr. Iraza.
  Instead of seeing Dr. Iraza, however, the employee then consulted with Dr. F. Allen Johnston, MD of the Louisiana Orthopaedic and Spine Institute, who examined the employee on November 10, 2003, and diagnosed “lumbar spondylosis with possible left leg radiculopathy, rule out disc herniation.”  Dr. Johnston on physical exam noted a “guarded and mildly restricted” range of motion with negative straight leg raising in the seated position, with bilateral tenderness over the posterior/superior iliac spines.  Dr. Johnston ordered an MRI of the lumbar spine, and released the complainant from heavy duty work, stating “[h]e can do sedentary to light duty work.”
  This November 10, 2003 chart note is the first medical record in which the employee is recorded as having describing the mode of workplace injury as moving a “16 inch manhole cover.”
  Dr. Johnston prescribed Ultram, an opioid,
 for pain, and “I will get him back on his Bextra.”

On November 25, 2003, the employee reported again to the St. Elizabeth Hospital Emergency Department complaining of pain.  On examination, the ER physician noted “some tenderness to lumbar paraspinal area; no diorect [sic] vertebral tenderness; and negative SLR [straight leg raise] strength and sensation and pulses good.”
  The employee was diagnosed with low back pain and discharged from the ER with 15 tablets of Lortab.

An MRI was performed on December 23, 2003, with the impression of the image of “mild degenerative disc and joint disease at L3-L4, L4-L5, and L5-S1.  No herniation.”

Dr. Johnston examined the employee again on January 5, 2004, noting symptoms unchanged since last visit, with:

 “some tenderness about the PSIS [posterior superior iliac spine] area on the left side.  His ROM [range of motion] is adequate.  He can heel and toe walk without difficulty.  SLR [straight leg raise] on the right is negative and SLR [straight leg raise] on the left causes low back pain and left buttock pain.  Lower extremity strength and neurovascular status is intact.” 

Dr. Johnston diagnosed L3-S1 degenerative disc disease, chronic low back pain, and formed the plan to try lumbar epidural steroid injections, a TENS unit, and Bextra.
  There is no evidence the employee ever followed Dr. Johnston’s recommendation of the epidural steroid injections.  

The employee again was examined on January 12 or 13, 2004, with  reports of sharp catching pain radiating down both legs, aggravated by activities of daily living.  Dr. Johnston recommended EMG/nerve conduction studies.
  Dr. Johnston completed an insurance company questionnaire noting the employee was medically stable at that time (“yes” box checked), recommended EMG/nerve conduction studies, physical therapy, consideration of  epidural injections, that the employee was not released to full duties but was released to light duty work, with an undetermined time for release to full duties.
  Later, it appears that Dr. Johnston retracted the statement of medical stability, and opined that the employee was not medically stable as of February 19, 2004, but anticipated medical stability by May 1, 2004.
  As of February 19, 2004, the EMG studies had not been completed, and the employee had not started physical therapy as prescribed by Dr. Johnston.
  Dr. Johnston noted in response to an insurance company inquiry that the employee’s reports of pain had improved from 8/10 to 5-6/10 since his first visit to Dr. Johnston.

Nerve conduction studies were performed on March 4, 2004, with the reported impression of lumbar radiculopathy involving S1 nerve roots bilaterally, most significant on the right S1 root level.
  Dr. Johnston saw the employee again on March 15, 2004, noted the nerve conduction studies, changed his diagnosis to “chronic low back pain with bilateral S1 radiculopathy and L3-S1 disc degeneration,” and continued to recommend “lumbar ESI” [epidural steroid injection].  Dr. Johnston charted the employee’s report of constant lower back pain, changing in intensity based on activity, with certain positions in bed causing excruciating low back pain.  Dr. Johnston gave the employee Vicodin for pain, made no other changes in the treatment plan, waiting instead for the steroid injections.
  This March 15, 2004 visit appears to be the last treatment of the employee by Dr. Johnston.

On May 31, 2004, the employee was treated at the Teche Regional Medical Center, Morgan City, LA for injuries sustained in an “altercation,” described more fully in the patient history sections of the medical records as being struck with a fist while riding a bicycle, with facial lacerations, knee abrasions, and pain in face and lower back.  The employee admitted to having alcohol.  The employee removed himself from the backboard while in the ER, and had to be coaxed back into the ER for treatment.  CT scans of the skull and cervical spine were normal.

On July 4, 2004, the employee was admitted to the Assumption Community Hospital Emergency Room for multiple contusions to his knees and complaint of pain in right knee and left ankle, with the employee’s history of falling down a flight of stairs the night before.  X-rays were not remarkable and the employee was discharged with a prescription for Percodan.

On July 27, 2004, the employee was treated at the Our Lady of the Lake Ascension Occupational Health Clinic, at which he reported a history of lower back pain and “herniated disk (3).”
 

III. The Medical Evaluators:

The employee was seen on March 17, 2004 by Stephen Marble, MD as an employer-requested medical evaluator (EME).   Dr. Marble surveyed medical records from November 27, 2002 until January 5, 2004.
  Dr. Marble noted that the epidural injections had not been approved or scheduled as of March 17, 2004.
  Dr. Marble was also aware of the results of the March 4, 2004 nerve conduction study, although not recited in his list of records reviewed, it is described later in the report.
  On examination by Dr. Marble, the employee was found to have 5/5 lower extremity strength, no sensory deficits “with particular attention to the L5 and S1 dermatomes,” no long track signs, equal calf circumference, and negative straight leg tests, with “some pressure in the lower back” reported at the terminal range of bilateral straight leg raise with simultaneous internal hip rotation.
  Dr. Marble’s conclusion was lumbar degenerative disk and joint diseases with waxing and waning symptoms unattributable to any work related injury with VECO in November 2002, that the employee did not sustain any specific injury on November 2, 2002 which was a substantial contributing factor in the causation, acceleration or aggravation of the employee’s condition, with any possible aggravation of his pre-existing condition by work activities being temporary and resolved by February or March 2003 as shown in the medical records.
  Dr. Marble opined that he “would be concerned about any 51 year-old gentleman of Mr. Blanchard’s size/build with symptomatic lumbar degenerative disk and degenerative joint disease” returning to pipe-fitting as “physically demanding work,” but that the employee was capable of “light to medium duty” work with “standard spinal precautions,” and that the employee could not tolerate the job duties of a pipefitter.

The employee was seen by Alan C. Roth, MD on October 20, 2006.  Dr. Roth noted the employee’s refusal of epidural steroid injections.
  Dr. Roth noted bilaterally symmetric lower extremity musculature, normal sensory tests of lower extremities, normal gait, normal range of motion of hips and knees, 5º limitation of lumbar extension, 5º limitation of lumbar rotation, but otherwise normal lumbar range of motion.

  Like Dr. Marble, Dr. Roth was not able to independently review the MRI films, as they were not provided.
  Dr. Roth was apparently provided a more complete set of the employee’s medical records than Dr. Marble.  Dr. Roth noted disagreement between the employee’s self-history of “never having significant back problems except for very transiently treated with medications,” and the medical records which he found “suggest that the patient had fairly chronic low back pain with radiating discomfort for which he was treated on numerous occasions in the emergency room, particularly for the period of a month or more prior to the onset of his alleged work injury.”
  Dr. Roth opined that the complaints or symptoms experienced by the employee in November 2002 “would have occurred in the absence of the very brief period of work at VECO” given the prior history of chronic low back pain, and therefore “none of the patient’s complaints or symptoms were related to the November 22, 2002 [sic]
 injury.  On the question of whether the workplace aggravated, accelerated or combined with a pre-existing condition, Dr. Roth opined that there was no specific industrial injury, that “the patient’s employment at VECO was not a substantial factor in the aggravation, acceleration or combining with a pre-existing condition.” 
  Dr. Roth further opined that he could return to work as a pipe fitter with a 50 lb. weight limitation.  Dr. Roth questioned the “subjective” evidence of radiculopathy, and questioned the results of the nerve conduction study conclusion of radiculopathy as “unconfirmed” particularly due to normal reflexes and objective sensory testing.   Dr. Roth concluded that the employee is medically stable with a 7% impairment of the whole person, but does not attribute this impairment to workplace injury. 

IV. EVIDENCE AT HEARING:

The employee provided no additional medical records or other documentary evidence at hearing to support his case.  He described at hearing lifting a heavy steel flange cover by himself,  in a twisting manner, while astride a large horizontal metal tank called a “surge tank.”

  The employer offered no witnesses, choosing to rely upon the medical and other written evidence submitted.  The employer offered a binder of exhibits 1 through 13 to distill the evidence in the case.

During the employee’s deposition, in response to a question about prior back problems before going to work for VECO, the employee gave the following testimony:

Q.
Okay.  Before November of 2002 had you ever had a back injury before?

A.
Not a back injury.  I had a pulled muscle.

Q.
Okay. When?

A.
Which was – I don’t remember exactly when.  It could have been two months before that.  I went to Dr. Naro.

Q.
Spell –

A.
Dr. Naro in Gonzales.

Q.
N-A-R-O?

A.
Yes, ma’am.

Q.
In –

A. 
And he gave me some medication and muscle relaxers.  And in a week and a half I was all better.

In his handwritten post-hearing submission, the employee implies that his first treating physician Dr. Pitre was unethically referring the employee to a physical therapy clinic in which Dr. Pitre held an ownership interest, argues that Dr. Marble’s IME report was most independent, and argues against Dr. Roth’s SIME report, questioning the 7% disability rating.  The employee states in his closing memorandum:

“If  I had a previou [sic] condition that would have kept me from working, it is sure strange that I was able to work, and in 5½ months make 50,000.00 dollars in the year of 02. * * * Nowhere in the medical records does it show, I had to have further treatments, when I did have a pulled muscle or lumbar strain, within a week to week ½ [sic] I was always 100% better.”
 


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
A.
Presumption Analysis


AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part: "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter . . . ."  The Alaska Supreme Court has held that "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.”
    The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  "[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.”
    In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
    The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment,
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.
  

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment.  Second, once the preliminary link is established, "it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.”  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation.
    

In Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Bd.,
 the Court explained two possible ways to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  We defer questions of credibility and the weight to given the employer's evidence until after we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.
  

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
  A longstanding principle in Alaska workers' compensation law is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.
  

B.  November 2002 allegation of work injury 

The employer admitted compensability for TTD from November 25, 2002 through March 19, 2003, and denied compensability for TTD and medical benefits after March 19, 2003.
  We find the evidence supports the employer’s Answer.  We find the employee’s current description of back pain symptoms involves multiple potential causes including the employee’s pre-existing degenerative disc disease and several medically documented falls both before and after November 2002.  This claim is “based on highly technical medical considerations” and thus medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link between the alleged November 2002 work accident and the employee’s claims.
  

We find that the employee has offered no medical evidence that establishes any workplace condition at VECO as a substantial cause of the employee’s symptoms and complaints.  The chart note from Dr. Scott Petrie, the initial treating orthopedist after the alleged workplace event, attributed the employee as denying “any trauma or enticing events, but remembers twisting his back while getting out of bed approximately three weeks ago and slipping on ice while on the job three weeks ago.”  The notation of a slip-and-fall on ice while “on the job” is not supported by any other evidence in the record, including the employee’s testimony at deposition and at hearing.  In any event, this is a chart note of the employee’s report.  Dr. Petrie expresses no opinion, in any of his treatment notes, that a workplace injury caused the employee’s symptoms.
  Similarly, treating orthopedist Dr. F. Allen Johnston’s treatment notes do not contain an opinion that the employee’s symptoms are the result of any incident at the VECO workplace.

Accordingly, we find that the employee has not met his burden at the first step of the compensability analysis.

However, assuming the employee’s testimony by itself as to the mode of injury is sufficient to satisfy the first step of the compensability analysis under VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, we find the employer has offered substantial evidence rebutting the presumption.
  First, the employer has adduced substantial evidence of the employee’s significant symptoms of pain, as evidenced by treatment records and prescription of significant amounts of pain medications, in the months of July, August and October 2002, preceding the employee’s engagement to work for VECO on or about October 28, 2002.  In fact, the medical record documents complaints of severe low back pain going back to 1992.  Second, both the IME Dr. Marble and the SIME Dr. Roth opined that the employee’s complaints were not caused by a workplace injury.  Therefore, we find that the employer has rebutted any presumption of compensability.

Assuming that an employee meets the minimal burden of establishing a work connection to a claimed injury (which we do not find the employee has done here), and assuming the employer rebuts the work-relatedness of the injury with substantial evidence (which we find the employer has done here),  at the third stage of the compensability analysis the presumption of compensability falls away, and the employee must prove his claim for additional benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.
  We find the employee has failed to meet his ultimate burden of proof, and that the evidence is overwhelming weighted in favor of the employer.  We find the employee is not a credible witness, having: 

(1) 
failed to report his back condition to VECO in his application (Employer’s Exhibit 2); 

(2) 
understated in his deposition and at hearing his pre-VECO level of pain and back injuries, while medical records record complaints of “severe” pain and administration of significant pain relief medication in the three months prior to employment; 

(3) 
failed on October 3, 2002 to report to St. Elizabeth Hospital his medical treatment of the prior day, October 2, 2002, with the result that he obtained significant amounts of pain medications from multiple medical providers;

(4) 
the changing story of etiology of the injury, reported first (to VECO/Fairweather) as boot-tying and a sudden awakening by an alarm clock; second, (in the Report of Injury) no specific cause is described; third (to Dr. Petrie), described as a sudden awakening in bed and a slip-and-fall on ice (the ice slip-and-fall version never reappeared); and fourth (to Dr. Johnston) that he was single-handedly manipulating a heavy steel flange; and

(5) 
overstated his medical condition as “herniated disc” on July 27, 2004 when reporting to the Occupational Clinic at Our Lady of the Lake Ascension, when there is no medical evidence to establish disc herniation, only that herniation was a possibility to be ruled out.

Because we find the employee lacks credibility, as a consequence we must give less weight to the opinions of the treating physicians who were required to rely upon the employee’s subjective reports of pain in assessing and treating his medical condition.
 

There was no independent witness testimony to corroborate the employee’s claim that he lifted a steel flange by himself to cause the alleged injury.  There was no medical testimony that any  condition of work at the Kustatan Project was a substantial factor in causing any of the employee’s back problems after October 28, 2002, and there is a multitude of medical evidence indicating the work with VECO was not a substantial factor in causing the employee’s back problems.  Instead, we find the medical record shows that the employee’s back problems preceded his employment with VECO, and that the employee sustained significant falls while riding a bicycle and falling down a flight of stairs, that occurred after his employment VECO ended.

Moreover, we find that Dr. Petrie’s and the physical therapist treatment notes in the year after the alleged injury recorded the employee as reporting several times that he was “100% improved.”  The employee meant complete recovery in using this phrase, as shown by his consistent use of the phrase in his deposition and in his post-hearing brief, in which he asserts that he completely recovered from pre-VECO “muscle pulls.”
  We find the most succinct description of the employee’s symptoms – if the employee’s reports of pain are to be given any credence – was provided by Dr. Marble: “It is my impression that Mr. Blanchard is simply experiencing waxing and waning yet accelerating symptoms from progressive degenerative disk and degenerative joint disease . . . .”
  

We agree with the EME and SIME physicians and conclude that the substantial evidence demonstrates if there was in fact a November 2002 injury – a fact we find unsupported – that in any event any injury was a strain that resolved.  We find the employee’s need for medical care ended on March 19, 2003 after the employee reported 100% improvement to Dr. Petrie.
  We find the employee’s employment with VECO in October and November 2002 did not contribute to the employee’s later medical conditions, need for treatment or inability to return to work as a pipefitter.  We find the employee’s subsequently diagnosed bulging disc (as reported in the December 23, 2003 MRI) and nerve impingement (as reported in the March 4, 2004 nerve conduction study) were not the result of any conditions or incidents of employment with VECO, but caused in fact by pre-existing conditions, with no evidence of exacerbation of those conditions by the work with VECO.  We find that any current reports of pain by the employee, if given credence, were more likely caused by his post-employment altercation while riding a bicycle on May 31, 2004, or his fall down a flight of stairs on the evening of July 3, 2004.

We conclude the employee has received all compensation benefits due and owing to him arising out of his employment with VECO from October 28 to November 22, 2002.  The employee’s claim is denied and dismissed.

ORDER

Employee's claims for additional compensation benefits beyond March 20, 2003 are denied and dismissed. 

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this  19th day of June, 2007.
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RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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� Family Medical Center, chart note dated July 7, 1992 (Bates-stamped page 002 of medical records filed Apr. 7, 2006).  A duplicate of this record is filed attached to a Medical Summary filed Sept. 28, 2004.   Lodine (generic: etodoloc) is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID).  See: http://www.drugs.com/lodine.html.


� Family Medical Center, chart note dated July 22, 1992 (Bates-stamped 006).  Toradol (generic: ketorolac) is an NSAID.  See:  http://www.drugs.com/mtm/toradol.html.


� Family Medical Center, chart note dated July 28, 1992 (Bates-stamped 006).  Tylox (generic: oxycodone and acetaminophen) is an opioid for pain relief..  See:  http://www.drugs.com/mtm/tylox.html.


� Family Medical Center, chart noted dated Nov. 18, 1993; Assumption General Hospital, medical records dated November 17, 1993. 


� Carisoprodol is identified as a muscle relaxant that blocks nerve impulses between muscle and brain.  See: http://www.drugs.com/mtm/carisoprodol.html.


� Relafen (generic: nambumetone) is an NSAID used in treating rheumatoid or osteoarthritis.  See: � HYPERLINK "http://www.drugs" �http://www.drugs�


.com/cdi/relafen.html.


� Hydrocodone with APAP, aka hydrocodone with acetaminophen, aka Lortab, aka Vicodin, is an opioid used for pain relief.  See http://www.drugs.com/cons/hydrocodone-with-apap.html.


� Richard’s Pharmacy, Patient Prescription Summary, Period 1/1/99 to 8/20/04, contained in Medical Summary filed Sept. 10, 2004.


� Id.


� Our Lady of the Lake Regional Medical Center, medical records dated September 1, 2000 (Bates-stamped 019-025).


� Richard’s Pharmacy, Patient Prescription Summary, Period 1/1/99 to 8/20/04, contained in Medical Summary filed Sept. 10, 2004.


� Cyclobenzaprine is a muscle relaxant.  See: http://www.drugs.com/cdi/cyclobenzaprine.html.


� Meprozine (generic: meperidine or promethazine) is used for treating moderate to severe pain by blocking nerve impulses to pain centers in the brain.  See http://www.drugs.com/cdi/meprozine.html.


� Assumption Community Hospital, medical records dated Apr. 6, 2002 (Bates-stamped 027-031).  Naproxen is an NSAID.  See: http://www.drugs.com/naproxen.html.


� Teche Regional Medical Center, medical records dated April 14, 2002 (Bates-stamped 033-044).


� Teche Regional Medical Center, medical records dated June 29, 2002 (Bates-stamped 045-057).  Naprosyn (generic: naproxen) is an NSAID.  See Note 14, supra.  Vicodin is an opioid for pain.  See Note 7, supra.


� Family Medical Center chart note dated July 26, 2002, filed with Medical Summary filed Aug. 26, 2004.  Skelaxin (generic: metaxalone) is a muscle relaxant that depresses the central nervous system.  See: � HYPERLINK "http://www.drugs.com/cdi/skelaxin.html" �http://www.drugs.com/cdi/skelaxin.html�.  An incomplete copy of this chart note, with the top margin showing the date of the note, is found as Employer’s Exhibit 4 and Bates-stamped as 058.


� Id.  An incomplete copy of the August 2, 2002 chart notes, with the date cut off at the top margin of the page, is found Bates-stamped as 059.  


� Bertrand’s Pharmacy, Inc., Patient prescription summary, 1/1/01 to 8/16/04, filed with Medical Summary filed Sept. 10, 2004.


� Id.


� Unidentified clinic, chart note dated Oct. 2, 2002 (Bates-stamped 060).


� Id.


� Bertrand’s Pharmacy, Inc., Patient prescription summary, 1/1/01 to 8/16/04, filed with Medical Summary filed Sept. 10, 2004.


� St. Elizabeth Hospital, Emergency Department chart notes dated Oct. 3, 2002 (Bates-stamped 061-074).  “Sialoadenitis” is an inflammation of the salivary gland or salivary duct.


� Wal-Mart Pharmacy 10-0532, report filed with Medical Summary filed on Dec. 10, 2004.


� Bertrand’s Pharmacy, Inc., Patient prescription summary, 1/1/01 to 8/16/04, filed with Medical Summary filed Sept. 10, 2004.


� Towns, Horsby and Regan, Dental Corporation, Medical history and chart notes, dated Oct. 7, 2002 (Bates-stamped 075-077).


� See Employer’s Exhibit 2.


� Id.


� Transcript of Deposition of A.J. Blanchard (dated July 20, 2004), at page 42, lines 9-17.


� Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (dated Nov. 22, 2002; filed Dec. 11, 2002). 


� J. Alm, PA, Fairweather, Inc., Patient Encounter Form (dated Nov. 6, 2002)(Bates-stamped page 080).  See also Employer’s Exhibit 5.  Flexeril (generic: cyclobenzaprine) is a muscle relaxant.     See:  � HYPERLINK "http://www.drugs.com/cdi/" �http://www.drugs.com/cdi/�


flexeril.html.


� J. Alm, PA, Fairweather, Inc., Patient Encounter Form (dated Nov. 7, 2002)(Bates-stamped page 081 of medical records filed with the Board on Apr. 7, 2006).  See also Employer’s Exhibit 6.


� J. Alm, PA, Fairweather, Inc., Patient Encounter Form (dated Nov. 7, 2002)(Bates-stamped page 082 of medical records filed with the Board on Apr. 7, 2006.


� J. Alm, PA, Fairweather, Inc., Patient Encounter Form (dated Nov. 8, 2002)(Bates-stamped page 083 of medical records filed with the Board on Apr. 7, 2006).


� J. Alm, PA, Fairweather, Inc., Patient Encounter Form (dated Nov. 13, 2002)(Bates-stamped page 084 of medical records filed with the Board on Apr. 7, 2006).


� Chart note, MediCenter, Kenai, AK (dated Nov. 21, 2002)( Bates-stamped page 085 of medical records filed with the Board on Apr. 7, 2006).


� J. Alm, PA, Witness Statement (dated Nov. 22, 2002)(Bates-stamped page 086 of medical records filed with the Board on Apr. 7, 2006). 


� Id., at page 42, line 20 through page 44, line 10.


� Injury Status Report, Our Lady of the Lake Ascension, Gonzales, LA (dated Nov. 25, 2002)(Bates-stamped page 087 of medical records filed Apr. 7, 2006).


� S. Petrie, MD, chart note dated Nov. 27, 2002 (Bates-stamp 089).


� Id. at page 2 (Bates-stamp 090).


� S. Petrie, MD, chart note dated Dec. 5, 2002 (Bates-stamp 091).


� S. Petrie, MD, chart note dated Dec. 13, 2002 (Bates-stamp 092).


� S. Petrie, chart note dated Dec. 17, 2002 (Bates-stamped 093).


� S. Petrie, chart note dated Dec. 23, 2002 (Bates-stamped 094).


� S. Petrie, chart note dated Jan. 3, 2003 (Bates-stamped 096); referral sheet to Advanced Rehabilitation of Gonzales (signed by Dr. Petrie) dated Jan. 3, 2003 (Bates-stamped 095).


� Advanced Rehabilitation of Gonzales, chart notes dated Jan. 13-24, 2003 (Bates-stamped 097 through 102, 104 through 111).


� S. Petrie, chart note dated Jan. 27, 2003 (Bates-stamped 103); S. Petrie, chart note dated Feb. 25, 2003 (Bates-stamped 112). 


� S. Petrie, chart note dated Mar. 18, 2003 (Bates-stamped 114); S. Petrie, chart note dated Apr. 23, 2003 (Bates-stamped 116).


� S. Petrie, chart note dated June 4, 2003 (Bates-stamped 118); referral sheet to Advanced Rehabilitation of Gonzales (signed by Dr. Petrie) dated June 4, 2003 (Bates-stamped 120).


� Advanced Rehabilitation of Gonzales, chart note dated June 27, 2003 (Bates-stamped 125).


� S. Petrie, chart note dated July 9, 2003 (Bates-stamped 128)(“he comes in today stating his lower back is continuing to hurt”); Advanced Rehabilitation of Gonzales, chart notes dated June 27-July21, 2003 (Bates-stamped 125 through 132)(Employee attributed as reporting “doing good.  Only slight discomfort recently” on July 1 – Bates stamp 126; “PT [patient] is not doing as much good as last time” on July 8 – Bates stamp 127; “feeling a little better.  States he will call us re: further assessment” on July 11 – Bates stamp 129; “Pt. frustrated that he is not progressing” on July 15 – Bates stamp 130; “no Δ [change]” on July 18 – Bates stamp 131; “no new ℅ [complaints]” on July 21 – Bates stamp 132. 


� Referral sheet to Advanced Rehabilitation of Gonzales (signed by Dr. Petrie) dated July 22, 2003 (Bates-stamped 133).


� St. Elizabeth Hospital Emergency Department chart notes (dated July 23, 2003)(Bates-stamped 136 -142).


� S. Petrie, chart note dated July 9, 2003 (Bates-stamped 147).


� Advanced Rehabilitation of Gonzales, chart notes dated August 6-21, 2003 (Bates-stamped 148-53)(“doing OK.  Might go back to work next week” on August 6 – Bates stamped 148; “doing good” on August 7 – Bates stamped 149; “no new ℅ [complaints]” – Bates stamped 150; “doing good.  Had good results.  Worked in yard & had ↑ [increased] stiffness” on August 15 – Bates-stamped 151; “doing good” on August 20 – Bates-stamped 152; “doing well” on August 21 – Bates-stamped 153).


� Referral sheet to Advanced Rehabilitation of Gonzales (signed by Dr. Petrie) dated August 26, 2003 (Bates-stamped 155).


� Our Lady of Ascension, Occupational Health Clinic, Injury Status Report dated Nov. 6, 2003 (Bates-stamped 156).


�F. Allen Johnston, MD, Louisiana Orthopaedic and Spine Institute, chart note dated Nov. 10, 2003 (Bates-stamped 164-165).  See also Employer’s Exhibit 11.


� Id. at page 1 (Bates-stamped 164).


� See � HYPERLINK "http://www.medicinenet.com/tramadol/article.htm" �http://www.medicinenet.com/tramadol/article.htm�.


� Bextra (generic: valdecoxib) is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID).    See http: //www.drugs.com/


bextra.html.


� St. Elizabeth Hospital, Physician Medical Record, dated Nov. 25, 2003, at page 1 (Bates-stamped 168).


� G.M. Mall, MD, St. Elizabeth Hospital, Physician Medical Report dated Nov. 25, 2003 (Bates-stamped 168-169).  Lortab is an opioid for pain relief.  See Note 7, supra.


� M. Woody, MD., Health South Diagnostic Center of Baton Rouge, Report of MRI-Lumbar Spine, dated Dec. 23, 2003 (Bates-stamped 170-71).


� F. Allen Johnston, MD, Chart note dated Jan. 5, 2004 (Bates-stamped 172). 


� F. Allen Johnston, MD, Chart note dated Jan. 12 or 13, 2004 (Bates-stamped 174).


� F. Allen Johnston, MD, completion of Alaska National Insurance Co. form “Third Request,” dated Jan. 30, 2004 (Bates-stamped 175-76).


� F. Allen Johnston, MD, completion of Alaska National Insurance Co. form “Third Request,” dated February 19, 2004 (Bates-stamped 178).


� F. Allen Johnston, MD, Chart note dated February 19, 2004 (Bates-stamped 179).


� F. Allen Johnston, MD, completion of Alaska National Insurance Co. form, dated Mar. 2, 2004 (Bates-stamped 180).


� W.L. High, MD, PhD, NeuroTechnology Institute, Baton Rouge, Report of Nerve Conduction Studies, dated Mar. 4, 2004 (Bates-stamped 181).


� F. Allen Johnston, MD, Chart note dated March 15, 2004 (Bates-stamped 188).


� Teche Regional Medical Center, medical reports dated May 31, 2004 (Bates-stamped 195-214).  See also separately filed Teche Regional Medical Center records (not Bates-stamped), filed with Medical Summary on November 17, 2006.


� Assumption Community Hospital, medical reports dated July 4, 2004 (Bates-stamped 215-222).  Percodan (generic: oxycodone and aspirin) is an opioid for pain relief.  See: http://www.drugs.com/percodan.html.


� Our Lady of the Lake Ascension, Occupational Health Clinic, chart note dated July 27, 2004, filed with Medical Summary filed Dec. 28, 2005.


� Stephen P. Marble, MD, The Independent Medical Evaluators, letter report dated March 17, 2004, at page 1 (Bates-stamped 189).  Dr. Marble was not able to independently review the MRI films, which were not provided.  Id. at 5 (Bates-stamped 193).


� Id. at page 3 (Bates-stamped 191).


� Id. at pages 1-3 (Bates-stamped 189-191)(describing records reviewed), and at 5 (Bates-stamped 193)(describing nerve conduction study results).


� Id. at page 5 (Bates-stamped 193).


� Id. at 6 (Bates-stamped 194).


� Id. at 7 (Bates-stamped 194).


� Alan C. Roth, MD, Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME), dated Oct. 20, 2006, at page 1.


� Id. at 2-3.


� Id. at 3.


� Id. at 7.


� Dr. Roth’s notes reflect the employee reported the date of injury of November 22, 2002.  The report of injury does not list a specific date of injury.  The first record of medical treatment by the employer’s medical facility in Alaska is November 6, 2002.  See Note 32, supra.


� Id. at 9.


� Id. at 9.


� Testimony of Arthur J. Blanchard.


� Transcript of Deposition of Arthur J. Blanchard (dated July 20, 2004), at page 49, lines 12-24.  See also id. at pages 10-15 (“And like I say, in a week and a half I was better 100 percent.”).


� Employee’s closing memorandum, undated, received May 17, 2007, at pages 8 and 9.


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).


� VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)


� Burgess Construction, supra, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74 (Alaska 1991).


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Id.; Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869 (Alaska 1985).


� 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Miller v. ITT Arctic Servs., 577 P.2d 1044 (Alaska 1978).


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).  


� Koons, supra n. 100, 816 P.2d at 1381.  


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


� Beauchamp v. Employers Liab. Assurance Corp., 477 P.2d 993 (Alaska 1970).


� Answer to Employee’s Workers’ Compensation Claim (dated May 27, 2004, filed May 28, 2004).


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).


� See generally Medical Records binder filed Apr. 7, 2006, at Bates-stamped pages 89-133.


� See generally id., at Bates-stamped pages 164-188.


� See Safeway v. Mackey, 965 P.2d 22, 27-28 (Alaska 1998); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Meek, 914 P.2d at 1280. 


� This evidence of drug-seeking behavior occurred less than a month before the employee was hired by VECO, and the St. Elizabeth Hospital treatment was not reported, we find, in order to obtain employment.


� Lake Ascension Physicians, chart note dated July 27, 2004 (“herniated disk (3)”).  Cf. Kenai Medicenter chart note dated Nov. 21, 2002 of “possible HNP [herniated nucleus pulposus]” (Bates-stamped 085); F. Allen Johnston, MD, chart note dated Nov. 10, 2003 noting “rule out disc herniation.”(Bates-stamped 1264); M. Woody, MD, Report of MRI-Lumbar Spine, dated Dec. 23, 2003 (Bates-stamped 170-71)(finding no evidence of disc herniation).


� E.g. Brown v. Juneau Asphalt, Dec. No. 04-0137 (June 17, 2004)(discounting opinions of treating physicians on finding employee not to be a credible historian).


� Employee’s deposition, at page 50, describing treatment by Dr. Naro for a “pulled muscle” in his back before employment with VECO, the employee was treated with “[p]ain pills and muscle relaxers.  And like I say, in a week and a half I was better 100 percent”; Post-hearing memorandum, at page 9 (“when I did have a pulled muscle or lumbar strain, within a week to week ½ I was always 100% better”).


� Marble Report, Employer’s Exhibit 12, at page 6.


� There is evidence that the employee reported 100% improvement as early as December 13, 2002, and at other dates thereafter.  Cf. S. Petrie, MD, Chart notes for Dec. 13, 2002 (Bates-stamped 092)(also Employer’s Exhibit 9); for Feb. 25, 2003 (Bates-stamped 112); for Mar. 18, 2003 (Bates-stamped 113); for Apr. 23, 2003 (Bates-stamped 116).  Because the employer in its Answer has only controverted benefits after March 19, 2003, we limit our finding of compensability for benefits claimed after that date.  
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